# S280551 IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

| THE PEOPLE,                  | ]                                   |  |
|------------------------------|-------------------------------------|--|
| Plaintiff and Respondent, v. | ] No. S                             |  |
|                              | Dourt of Appeal No. H049147         |  |
| LOUIS SANCHEZ EMANUEL,       | ] (Superior Court No<br>] C1246799) |  |
| Defendant and Appellant.     | i                                   |  |

#### PETITION FOR REVIEW

On Appeal from a Judgment of the Superior Court of the State of California, County of Santa Clara Honorable Vanessa Zecher, Judge Presiding

#### ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

I. Does an aider and abettor to a two-participant robbery act with reckless indifference to human life where he does not know the other participant is armed, leaves the scene and urges the other to do the same when the victim refuses to give up his property, and has already left when the other participant bludgeons and shoots the victim?

#### FACTUAL AND PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND

For the purpose of this petition, Emanuel adopts the facts and procedure set forth in the "Factual and Procedural Background" section of the Court of Appeal's decision. (Decision, pp. 2-9.) Additional relevant facts will be incorporated in the arguments which follow.

#### NECESSITY FOR REVIEW

I.

This Court should grant review to decide if an aider and abettor to a robbery acts with reckless indifference to human life when he does not know his accomplice has a gun and leaves the scene, while urging the armed participant to do the same, before the shooting happens.

### A. Summary of argument

Louis Emanuel and Jacob Whitley committed a daytime robbery of a marijuana dealer at or near a public park. The dealer was in the driver seat of his truck when the robbery happened. Whitley had a gun but Emanuel did not know it. When the dealer unexpectedly refused to give up his property, Emanuel left and told Whitley to leave, as well. Afterwards, Whitley struck the dealer with his gun and fatally shot him. The prosecution presented no evidence that, after Emanuel left, he remained close enough to the ongoing confrontation to see and intervene in the escalating violence, see the dealer had been shot, or come to the dealer's aid.

The issue in this case is whether Emanuel's initial presence at the robbery scene provided sufficient basis for a finding of reckless indifference to human life, even though he urged Whitley to leave and personally walked away before the shooting. The trial court and Court of Appeal answered this question in the affirmative. This Court should grant review.

#### B. Background

The Court of Appeal took judicial notice of the records in two previous appeals, both cited in this petition. The first was Emanuel's original appeal – *People v. Whitley* et al., H043651. The second was *People v. Emanuel*, H047062 – a previous appeal arising out of these same Penal Code section 1172.6 proceedings. The Court of Appeal eventually dismissed Case No. H047062 as moot.

Within this petition, citations to the "ORT" or "OCT" refer to the record in Emanuel's original appeal. Citations to the previous petition appeal will be designated by the case number in that appeal – H047062. Unspecified record citations refer to the record in the present petition proceedings.

#### 1. The December 11, 2012 robbery and shooting

In late December, 2012, Emanuel and Jacob Whitley arranged to buy a pound of marijuana from a dealer named John Cody S. ("Cody"). (6 ORT 480-483.) The sale was to take place around 2:30 or 3:00 p.m. on December 11, 2012, at or near Cherry Park in San Jose. (4 ORT 304-306; 6 ORT 521, 536.) In reality, the arranged sale was a ruse for an intended robbery.

During the robbery, Whitley shot Cody in the neck while Cody was in the driver seat of his pickup truck. (10 ORT 1080-1081; see 6 ORT 461-462.) The shot caused the truck to lurch violently backward, ejecting Cody out the front passenger door. (6 ORT 459-462.) Cody died of a single gunshot wound to the neck. (4 ORT 236, 256.)

Emanuel, Whitley, and Cody were the only witnesses to the actual robbery and none of them testified at trial. However, Emanuel and Whitley discussed the robbery with Emanuel's girlfriend, Breanna Santos. (10 ORT 1057-1058, 1068.) Santos later related their conversation to the police. (10 ORT 1054-1055, 1057-1058.)

Santos told police that, when Cody refused to give up the marijuana, Emanuel left while telling Whitley, "Let's go." (10 ORT 1078, 1080-1081.) After Emanuel began walking away, Whitley struck Cody in the head with the gun. (10 ORT 1078, 1081.) Cody fought back. (10 ORT 1078, 1081.) Whitley aimed the gun for his leg but Cody pushed it up and the shot struck him in the neck. (10 ORT 1078, 1081.) When Emanuel learned what had happened, he asked Whitley, "What the fuck you doing?" (10 RT 1082.) Emanuel "started panicking" and went home. (10 RT 1082.) No other facts are known about the robbery or about Emanuel's participation in that robbery.

In 2015, a jury found both Emanuel and Whitley guilty of "first degree felony murder." (3 OCT 821-822.) The jury also found that Whitley, and only Whitley, personally discharged a firearm resulting in death. (3 OCT 822.) The Court of Appeal affirmed in *People v. Whitley* et al., H043651.

#### 2. Petition proceedings

Emanuel filed a petition to vacate his murder conviction under what is now Penal Code section 1172.6.<sup>1</sup> (1 CT [H047062]: 1-7.) The case proceeded to an evidentiary hearing, where the court based its ruling on the original trial record. (See 1 CT 197; Aug. RT [Dec. 16, 2020] ("Aug. RT"): 60.)

The trial court found Emanuel to be a major participant who acted with reckless indifference to human life. (1 CT 202, 210.) In doing so, it relied primarily on Emanuel's physical presence at the crime scene and failure to come to Cody's aid after the shooting. (1 CT 205-210; see also Aug. RT 43, 59.) The court found "no evidence that the [robbery] plan involved the use of a gun" (1 CT 204), or that Emanuel "knew Whitley was armed." (1 CT 198.) However, it found that Emanuel learned of the gun after

All statutory references are to the Penal Code.

Whitley pulled it out and struck Cody with it. (1 CT 205.) The court expressed the view that, once this happened, Emanuel still had time to prevent the shooting. (1 CT 205.)

The trial court also faulted Emanuel for failing to come to Cody's aid after the shooting despite being "immediately present." (1 CT 209-210.) During oral argument on the petition, the trial court called such actions "horrific" and "as bad as pulling the trigger." (Aug. RT 43, 59.)

The trial court posited that Emanuel may have been "motivated by a desire to . . . avoid criminal liability" when he urged Whitley to leave the scene. (1 CT 207.) At the hearing, the court remarked that Emanuel helped bring about the encounter at the park and he could not "wash[] [his] hands" of responsibility after Whitley disregarded his calls to leave. (Aug. RT 54.)

Emanuel did not challenge the major participation finding on appeal. He did, however, argue that there was no substantial evidence he acted with reckless indifference to human life. The Court of Appeal affirmed, citing Emanuel's "physical proximity to the crime and opportunities to restrain the crime as well as aid the victim." (Decision, p. 12.)

C. Review is necessary to clarify the circumstances in which an aider and abettor's physical presence at the crime scene weighs in favor of reckless indifference to human life.

This case presents an important question about the significance of physical presence at the crime scene in evaluating reckless indifference to human life in felony-murder cases. Relatedly, the case also poses important questions about what steps a physically present aider and abettor should take in order to prevent deadly violence or aid the victim – and thereby undercut the usual link between presence and reckless indifference. (See *People v. Garcia* (2020) 46 Cal.App.5th 123, 148 ["Presence at the scene of the murder is a particularly important

aspect of the reckless indifference inquiry"].) By granting review in Emanuel's case, this Court will have the opportunity to provide much-needed guidance on these issues.

Senate Bill No. 1437 (2017-2018 Reg. Sess.), which took effect on January 1, 2019, made substantial revisions to California's murder laws. (Stats. 2018, ch. 1015 (SB 1437).) The bill arose out of a legislative desire to make murder liability "commensurate with the culpability of the individual." (SB 1437, § 1, subd. (e).) A preamble to SB 1437 called it a "bedrock principle of the law and of equity that a person should be punished for his or her actions according to his or her own level of individual culpability." (SB 1437, § 1, subd. (d).)

SB 1437 took specific aim at vicarious liability theories like the felony-murder doctrine. Under the pre-2019 version of that doctrine, any participant in a statutorily enumerated felony became guilty of first degree murder if either he or an accomplice killed in the commission of that felony. (*People v. Gonzalez* (2012) 54 Cal.4th 643, 654.) The prosecution did not have to prove "intent to kill, or even implied malice, but merely an intent to commit the underlying felony." (*Ibid.*)

SB 1437 changed the felony-murder doctrine for those who do not personally kill. It did so by incorporating the "major participation" and "reckless indifference to human life" elements already required for a felony-murder special circumstance finding against a defendant who was not the actual killer. (*People v. Harris* (2021) 60 Cal.App.5th 939, 954; see §§ 189, subd. (e); 190.2, subd. (d).) The phrases "major participation" and "reckless indifference to human life" have the same meaning under the revised felony-murder statute as they do under section 190.2, subdivision (d). (§ 189, subd. (e)(3).)

Reckless indifference to human life requires subjective awareness of a risk to life, above and beyond that inherent to the underlying felony. (*People v. Banks* (2015) 61 Cal.4th 788, 808 (*Banks*).) The concept entails "a willingness to kill (or to assist another in killing) to achieve a distinct aim, even if the defendant does not specifically desire that death as the outcome of his actions." (*People v. Clark* (2016) 63 Cal.4th 522, 617 (*Clark*).) In *Clark*, at pp. 618-622, this Court identified five factors a court or jury should consider when assessing reckless indifference to human life: (1) knowledge of weapons, use of a weapon, and the number of weapons used; (2) physical presence at the crime scene and opportunities to prevent the shooting or aid the victim; (3) the duration of the felony; (4) the defendant's knowledge that his accomplice would likely kill; and (5) the defendant's attempts to minimize violence during the crime.

Here, Emanuel did not use or possess a weapon and the trial court found no proof that he knew Whitley to be armed. (1 CT 198, 204; see also Decision, p. 12 ["we conclude there was no evidence . . . that, prior to the robbery, Emanuel knew Whitley possessed a gun, would bring that gun to the robbery, or 'was likely to use lethal force"].) It follows that Emanuel could not have known the incident would end with deadly violence. In fact, Emanuel made attempts to minimize violence by planning the robbery for "a public [park] during the daytime, when the possible presence of witnesses might reasonably be thought to keep [Whitley] within the bounds of the plan." (In re Scoggins (2020) 9 Cal.5th 667, 683 (Scoggins).) Although the duration of the robbery is unknown, the evidence showed that, when Cody refused to give up the pound of marijuana, Emanuel walked away and urged Whitley to do the same. (10 ORT 1078, 1081.)

The trial court found reckless indifference to human life based primarily on Emanuel's presence at the crime scene and his failure to prevent the shooting or come to Cody's aid. (See 1 CT 206-207.) The two factors are closely related, since physical proximity to the crime is the very feature which potentially enables an aider and abettor to calm the escalating violence or aid the victim. That is precisely what this Court said in Clark – explaining that a defendant's physical presence at the scene "allows him to observe his cohorts" and "act as a restraining influence" when the potential for deadly violence becomes apparent. (Clark, supra, 63 Cal.4th at p. 619.) If he fails to do so, he "is arguably more at fault for the resulting murders." (Ibid.)

But what if the aider and abettor **does** use his physical presence to try to act as a restraining influence by urging his accomplice to leave and then leaving himself – thus, signaling his desire to opt out of an encounter which has become unforeseeably fraught with danger? Are such actions enough to prevent a finding of reckless indifference to human life or, at the very least, to prevent an adverse inference based on physical proximity to the crime scene? And what if the deadly violence occurs only after the aider and abettor has already left the scene – with no affirmative evidence he was in position to see or prevent it? May the fact-finder still rationally infer that the aider and abettor had sufficient opportunity to intervene and failed to do so? Those are precisely the questions presented by this case.

By focusing only on Emanuel's physical presence, and ignoring Emanuel's departure from the scene and his attempts to restrain Whitley while he was still there, the trial court and Court of Appeal decoupled the fact of physical presence from the very circumstances which make it indicative of reckless indifference. In the process of doing so, they endorsed a virtual per se rule that physical presence, alone, supports a finding of reckless indifference – even when every other factor weighs against such a finding. Such an outcome cannot be reconciled with this state's jurisprudence.

In *Clark*, the aider and abettor was the "mastermind" of a computer store robbery which called for the employees to be handcuffed at the point of an unloaded gun. (*Clark*, *supra*, 63 Cal.4th at pp. 536, 612-613.) The aider and abettor acted as getaway driver, waiting just outside the store in the parking lot and driving off quickly after the unexpected shooting. (*Id.* at pp. 536-537.) Despite his close proximity to the crime, this Court pointed out that there was no evidence he could see what had happened or was in position to prevent the killing. (*Id.* at pp. 619-620.) The Court ultimately discerned no basis for a finding of reckless indifference to human life. (*Id.* at p. 623.)

Other, more recent, cases have found reckless indifference to human life lacking despite the defendant's physical presence at, or very close to, the crime scene. (In re Ramirez (2019) 32 Cal.App.5th 384, 404; People v. Ramirez (2021) 71 Cal.App.5th 970, 989; People v. Keel (2022) 84 Cal.App.5th 546, 560 (Keel); People v. Guiffreda (Jan. 3, 2023) 87 Cal.App.5th 112, 126-127 (Guiffreda).) The decisions in Keel and the two Ramirez cases are especially instructive.

In re Ramirez, supra, 32 Cal.App.5th at p. 404, involved a fatal shooting in response to the victim's unanticipated resistance during a robbery. The defendant "was in close proximity to the shooting" – possibly "only feet away," but with cars parked between the two locations. (*Id.* at p. 405.) In such circumstances, the Court of Appeal found no basis for inferring the defendant was "close enough to exercise a restraining effect on the crime or his colleagues." (*Ibid.*)

In *People v. Ramirez*, *supra*, 71 Cal.App.5th at pp. 976-979, one gang member came to a vehicle's driver side window and fatally shot him, while Ramirez and another gang member stood at the vehicle's passenger side window. The Court of Appeal found that, despite his presence, Ramirez had no "meaningful"

opportunity" to intervene since the shooting occurred on the other side of the vehicle. (*Id.* at p. 989.)

In *Keel*, *supra*, 84 Cal.App.5th at pp. 552-553, the victim was shot to death during a robbery in which Keel and another man both brandished guns. (*Id.* at p. 553.) The trial court found reasonable doubt whether Keel was the shooter, but found him to be a major participant who acted with reckless indifference to human life. (*Id.* at pp. 554-555.) The Court of Appeal reversed the latter finding, observing that Keel had little opportunity to restrain his accomplice since the decision to shoot arose quickly and in response to "unexpected resistance." (*Id.* at p. 560.)

On the other hand, an aider and abettor's physical presence may take on more significance when that presence enables him to see the increasing risk of violence and take steps to rein it in. Indeed, the decision in *Clark* said just this. It was not physical presence, per se, which this Court identified as a factor indicative of reckless indifference. It was "Physical Presence at the Crime and Opportunities to Restrain the Crime and/or Aid the Victim." (*Clark*, *supra*, 63 Cal.4th at p. 619, original capitalization.) The same is true in the context of major participation, where this Court asks: "Was the defendant present at the scene of the killing, in a position to facilitate or prevent the actual murder, and did his or her own actions or inaction play a particular role in the death?" (*Banks*, *supra*, 61 Cal.4th at p. 803.)

Physical presence may also loom large when coupled with personal use of a weapon or participation in a crime with a "particularly high risk of violence." (*In re McDowell* (2020) 55 Cal.App.5th 999, 1013 (*McDowell*).) *McDowell*, for instance, upheld a finding of reckless indifference where the aider and abettor personally possessed a knife and participated in an unusually high-risk crime – a home invasion robbery of a methamphetamine dealer at 3:00 a.m. (*Id.* at pp. 1005, 1013-

1014.) While inside the home, the actual killer fired a warning shot "a few seconds" before the fatal one. (*Id.* at p. 1005.) The Court of Appeal characterized the case for reckless indifference as "close to the line." (*Id.* at p. 1015.) However, the court deemed it significant that, in between the warning shot and the fatal shot, the aider and abettor had a "brief but critical opportunity . . . to say or do something to deescalate the situation." (*Id.* at p. 1014.) Instead, he did nothing. (*Ibid.*)

Similarly, in *People v. Bradley* (2021) 65 Cal.App.5th 1022, 1026-1028 (*Bradley*), the two defendants, plus a third man, all drew guns during an attempted robbery of a man and a woman inside a car. When the male victim reached for his own gun, one of the defendants shot him. (*Id.* at pp. 1027-1028.) In finding reckless indifference, the Court of Appeal pointed out that the two defendants both displayed guns and "did not flee or alter their plans" even after it became apparent that the victim was armed. (*Id.* at pp. 1033-1034.)

In *People v. Mitchell* (2022) 81 Cal.App.5th 575, 580 (*Mitchell*), Mitchell and his brother held up the driver of a car as he pulled out of a fast food drive-through line. During the robbery, the brother shot the driver five times. (*Id.* at p. 581.) The first shot or shots came after the driver refused to turn over the money. (*Ibid.*) The others came after the car drove away. (*Ibid.*) Citing Mitchell's inaction between the two rounds of shots, the Court of Appeal found substantial evidence of reckless indifference. (*Id.* at p. 593.) Among other things, the court noted that Mitchell "had the chance to tell his brother to stop the shooting. He could have tried to call off the plan. Or he could have fled the scene." (*Ibid.*)

The decision in *Mitchell* drew a sharp dissent from Presiding Justice Stratton, who accused the majority of making unsupported factual inferences based on a scant record. (*Mitchell*,

supra, 81 Cal.App.5th at p. 596, fn. 1 [dis. opn. of Stratton, P.J.].) That scant record contained no evidence that Mitchell was armed, knew his brother had a gun, or knew of his brother's violent history. (Id. at pp. 596-598 & fn. 1.) While Justice Stratton acknowledged Mitchell's presence at the crime scene, she emphasized that Mitchell was "some distance away," did not see the shooting, and "was not in a position to restrain his brother." (Id. at pp. 598-599.) She also noted that the shooting was a "spontaneous reaction to victim resistance as opposed to a planned part of the robbery." (Id. at p. 599.)

The split decision in *Mitchell* highlights the difficulties which this state's tribunals have had in evaluating the impact of physical presence on the reckless indifference to human life calculus. Emanuel's case, however, included none of the factors present in cases like *McDowell*, *Bradley*, and *Mitchell*. By contrast, it did include many of the factors present in *Clark*, *Scoggins*, *Keel*, and the two *Ramirez* cases.

The robbery in this case did not involve a late-night home invasion or an armed victim. Rather, Emanuel set out to commit a "garden-variety robbery" in a public place in broad daylight. (*McDowell*, *supra*, 55 Cal.App.4th at p. 1011; 6 RT 536.) There was no evidence that Emanuel had a weapon, knew of Whitley's gun, or knew Whitley had a propensity for violence. (1 CT 204.) He also had no reason to believe that Cody would resist the robbery attempt. (See *In re Taylor* (2019) 34 Cal.App.5th 543, 558 (*Taylor*).) Unlike in *McDowell*, Whitley fired no warning shot which might have alerted Emanuel to not only the gun's presence but also Whitley's willingness to use it.

Perhaps most importantly, Emanuel left the scene, and urged Whitley to do the same, when it became apparent to him that the robbery was not going as planned. (10 ORT 1078, 1081.) Importantly, Emanuel walked away before Whitley struck Cody

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