No. S280551

In the Supreme Court of the State of California

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,
Plaintiff and Respondent,

v.

LOUIS SANCHEZ EMANUEL,
Defendant and Appellant.

Sixth Appellate District, Case No. H049147
Santa Clara County Superior Court, Case No. C1246799
The Honorable Vanessa A. Zecher, Judge

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

ROB BONTA (SBN 202668)
Attorney General of California
LANCE E. WINTERS (SBN 162357)
Chief Assistant Attorney General
JEFFREY M. LAURENCE (SBN 183595)
Senior Assistant Attorney General
SETH K. SCHALIT (SBN 150578)
Supervising Deputy Attorney General
*LINDA M. MURPHY (SBN 148564)
Deputy Attorney General
455 Golden Gate Avenue, Suite 11000

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

⁷ Contrary to Emanuel’s version of events, a rational factfinder was not obligated to find that the statement was made then or that it was made at all. (*People v. Crooker* (1956) 47 Cal.2d 348, 355 [factfinder “may accept as true a portion of the testimony of a witness and disbelieve the remainder”].) The evidence that Emanuel uttered the phrase came from Emanuel’s “on and off” girlfriend, who told the police that Emanuel had told her that he made the statement. (10ORT 1081.) Emanuel *and* his girlfriend had an incentive to tell the story of the killing in a way that exculpated Emanuel.

Emanuel “made no attempt to check if Cody was still alive, to render aid, or to obtain medical assistance” after the shooting. (1CT 209; 5ORT 404-405 [witness observed Cody face down]; 10ORT 1076-1077 [Emanuel said he and Whitley left after Whitley shot Cody].) Instead of helping Cody or stopping Whitley, Emanuel “heard a shot and left. He just left someone to die.” (1RT 45; see 10ORT 1078, 1081-1082 [Emanuel was at the scene and had an opportunity to prevent Whitley from shooting Cody, but failed to prevent or minimize the risk of violence].)

Emanuel’s inaction is similar to that of the petitioner in *In re Loza* (2017) 10 Cal.App.5th 38. In *Loza*, the shooter counted down from five to one before shooting the victim. (*Id.* at p. 54.) “And in those five seconds, petitioner could have done any number of things to intercede or assist the victims—e.g., yell at [the shooter] to stop, try to halt the countdown, demand that they leave, distract [the shooter], or attempt to calm [the shooter], to name a few. But instead, petitioner did nothing during that crucial time period other than stand idly by with indifference—with reckless indifference to human life, to be precise.” (*Ibid.*)

Like *Loza*, Emanuel had at least five seconds to take action to try to prevent Whitley from shooting and killing Cody. (10ORT 1081.) Emanuel could have taken a variety of actions to prevent Cody’s death. Emanuel could have deescalated the situation, demanded that Whitley put away the gun, or yelled at Whitley to stop. (*Loza, supra*, 10 Cal.App.5th at p. 54.) Instead, Emanuel may have said, “[L]et’s go,” but he said and did nothing to discourage or impede Whitley’s shooting Cody. (10ORT 1081.)

The evidence supported the inference that Emanuel had an opportunity to prevent the shooting, and he failed to make any real attempt to do so.

The Court of Appeal correctly recognized many of these available inferences. The court explained that the superior court “could legitimately conclude that, as one who planned the robbery and was one of its intended beneficiaries, Emanuel had the ability to prevent it from happening or could have done more to prevent Whitley from shooting Cody.” (Opn. 12.) The Court of Appeal concluded it was apparent to Emanuel that Whitley ignored his purported advice to leave when Whitley struck Cody with the gun. (Opn. 12.) “There was no evidence that Emanuel made any further attempt to dissuade Whitley or intercede, perhaps by trying to take the gun from Whitley or distracting him so that Cody might have driven away.” (Opn. 12.) A rational factfinder could infer from the absence of such evidence—particularly in light of Emanuel’s efforts to exculpate himself when speaking to Santos—that Emanuel made no such efforts.

Emanuel tries to diminish the inference of reckless indifference arising from his presence and his failure to aid Cody by comparing himself to defendants in other cases where the defendant was at the scene but there was not substantial evidence of reckless indifference. (PR 13-15.) However, when deciding “issues of sufficiency of evidence, comparison with other cases is of limited utility, since each case necessarily depends on its own facts.” (*People v. Thomas* (1992) 2 Cal.4th 489, 516.) In any event, the evidence supporting the inference that Emanuel

acted with reckless disregard is stronger than the evidence in the cases he cites.

In *In re Ramirez* (2019) 32 Cal.App.5th 384, 404, “[t]here was no evidence [the defendant] was involved in any planning beyond agreeing the group should ‘jack’ someone, after which he simply acquiesced in whatever [his codefendant] said to do.” Additionally, the defendant was on the street, and “there were cars parked in the parking lot between [his] location and where the shooting occurred.” (*Id.* at p. 405.) Accordingly, the court concluded that the evidence did not show “he was close enough to exercise a restraining effect on the crime or his colleagues.” (*Ibid.*)

In *People v. Ramirez* (2021) 71 Cal.App.5th 970, 989, the defendant was “present at the scene, at the time of the shooting,” but he was on “the passenger side of the car” and did not have “a meaningful opportunity to intervene” when the shooter, who was on the driver’s side of the car, “[went] crazy’ and began to shoot.” On those facts, the court concluded the defendant was “not ‘close enough to exercise a restraining effect on the crime’” on the shooter. (*Ibid.*)

Unlike in those cases, a reasonable factfinder could conclude here that Emanuel was not only present during the shooting but also had the opportunity to intervene or render aid, as detailed above. Indeed, Emanuel’s own description of the relevant events to Santos, which was in turn relayed to police, supported the superior court’s conclusion that he had the ability to intervene.

Emanuel’s reliance on *People v. Keel* (2022) 84 Cal.App.5th 546 is equally unavailing. In that case, “[t]he decision to rob was made quickly,” and Keel’s codefendant’s “decision to shoot was apparently made even more quickly.” (*Id.* at p. 560.) Importantly, “there was no evidence the robbery was prearranged. By all accounts, the encounter was unexpected and unplanned.” (*Ibid.*) Unlike Keel, Emanuel was the principal architect of the planned robbery, which evolved over weeks, so Emanuel likely would not have been surprised that a dispute might arise during the transaction. Also, there was “some struggle” that provided “at least a brief window of opportunity for Emanuel to intervene or attempt to deescalate the violence.” (Opn. 13; see 6ORT 478, 480, 482-483, 487-488, 497, 500 [Emanuel initiated contact with Amini and heavily pursued the transaction over a two-week period]; 10ORT 1081 [Emanuel told Santos that when Cody “wouldn’t like, you know, let go,” Whitley “hit him with the gun,” and when Cody “started fighting back,” Whitley “pointed the gun”].)

Emanuel asserts that even if he was nearby, “his view would have been obstructed since the shooting took place inside Cody’s truck.” (PR 19.) He cites his account to Santos wherein he used the phrase “Jacob [Whitley] said” to suggest that he did not see the struggle firsthand. (PR 19, citing 10ORT 1078, 1081.) Santos did use that phrase.⁸ But Santos’s account to the police also

⁸ Emanuel purportedly used the phrase “Jacob said” three times when he told Santos what had happened: “[Whitley] said he hit him on the head with the gun”; “[Whitley] said that he
(continued...)

included statements by Emanuel that were not prefaced by “Jacob said,” from which a factfinder could infer that Emanuel had personally observed the events he was describing to Santos: “[T]he dude [Cody] was trying—wasn’t trying to give it up. So I told [Whitley], let’s go, but he wouldn’t come on. He wouldn’t let go, so [Whitley] hit him with the gun.” (10ORT 1077-1078, 1081.) Santos also stated that Emanuel said, “[Whitley] just shot him, “[Whitley] hit him,” and “[Whitley] hit him with the gun.” (10ORT 1077-1078, 1081.) Moreover, the factfinder was not obligated to accept Emanuel’s or Santos’s statements inculpatory Whitley. (*Crooker, supra*, 47 Cal.2d at p. 355.)

Given the entirety of Santos’s statements to Sergeant Davies, it was not irrational for the superior court to infer that Emanuel’s “statements to Santos indicate that he observed Whitley hit Cody on the head with the gun and saw Cody start fighting back before Whitley pointed the gun at Cody and shot him in the neck.” (1CT 206.)

C. Duration of the felony

As to the third *Clark* factor, duration of the felony, the record does not reveal how long the robbery or the struggle between Whitley and Cody lasted. Neither the superior court nor the Court of Appeal discussed this factor. (1CT 203 [order denying resentencing petition “discuss[ed] the factors of the most

(...continued)

tried to aim for Cody’s leg” and he shot him; and “[Whitley] said ‘he shot him in his neck.’” (10ORT 1078, 1081.)

significance in this case”]; Opn. 12 [acknowledging some factors were “either neutral or do not support a finding of reckless indifference”].) However, as this Court has stated, “no one of these considerations is necessary, nor is any one of them necessarily sufficient.” (*Clark, supra*, 63 Cal.4th at p. 618.) It is the totality of the circumstances that determine whether a defendant acted with reckless indifference to human life. (See *Scoggins, supra*, 9 Cal.5th at p. 677.)

D. Knowledge of accomplice’s likelihood of killing

The fourth *Clark* factor, Emanuel’s knowledge of Whitley’s likelihood of killing, also supports a finding of reckless indifference to human life. Once Whitley hit Cody on the head with the gun, Emanuel was on notice that Whitley could use lethal force against Cody. (10ORT 1078, 1081.) Whitley after all not only displayed the gun, conveying the implied threat of use, he actually used the gun to bludgeon Cody, an act carrying a risk to life. (*Aranda, supra*, 63 Cal.2d at p. 532.) It is of no consequence that Emanuel may have been unaware of this likelihood before Whitley pulled out the gun. (See *Clark, supra*, 63 Cal.4th at p. 621 [knowledge of cohort’s likelihood of killing “may be evident before the felony or may occur during the felony”].) The Court of Appeal concluded that there was no evidence that prior to the robbery Emanuel knew Whitley “was likely to use lethal force,” but it noted that “it became apparent Whitley was ignoring his advice when Whitley struck Cody with

his gun.” (Opn. 12.)⁹ Indeed, viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the judgment, Whitley’s conduct of hitting Cody in the head with the gun put Emanuel on notice of Whitley’s likelihood of killing. (See *People v. Lasko* (2000) 23 Cal.4th 101, 112 [“the evidence strongly suggested an intent to kill” where the defendant hit the victim multiple times on the head with extreme force, causing extensive and multiple fractures to the head area].) Whitley’s intentional use of deadly force put Emanuel on notice that there was a likelihood of additional deadly force, whether bludgeoning Cody to death or shooting him.

E. Efforts to minimize risk of violence during felony

As to the fifth *Clark* factor, Emanuel claims he “made attempts to minimize violence by planning the robbery for ‘a public [park] during the daytime, when the possible presence of witnesses might reasonably be thought to keep [Whitley] within the bounds of the plan.’” (PR 11, bracketed matter added by Emanuel, quoting *Scoggins, supra*, 9 Cal.5th at p. 683.) However, as the superior court found, “[a]lthough the commission of the crime during daylight hours in public view may have had the potential for minimizing violence, there is no evidence that the robbery was planned for that time or that it was planned to occur at that time for the purpose of minimizing the risk of

⁹ The superior court, in contrast, concluded this factor was neutral or did not weigh in favor of a finding of reckless indifference. (See 1CT 205 [concluding that Whitley’s action of hitting Cody in the head with the gun “did not necessarily inform [Emanuel] that Whitley was willing to shoot”].)

violence.” (1CT 208; see 6ORT 516-517, 519 [transaction initially was to occur at residence of marijuana supplier], 519-520 [Amini and Cody declined to identify house of supplier after Emanuel and Whitley admitted they did not have money for the marijuana], 521-522 [the four men agreed to meet at Cherry Park the next day].) Here too, the absence of such evidence given Emanuel’s attempts when speaking to Santos to blame Whitley and exculpate himself could lead a rational factfinder to infer Emanuel was indifferent to the risk of violence. Moreover, as the court noted, “if, in fact the plan did involve the use of a gun, the fact that innocent bystanders were present may have actually increased the risk of violence.” (1CT 208; see 4ORT 284, 289, 298, 207-208; 5ORT 367-369, 404-405 [numerous bystanders were in the area at time of crime].)

F. Actions after the shooting

In addition to the five *Clark* factors, a defendant’s actions after the shooting may bear on the trier of fact’s determination about the required mental state. (*Scoggins, supra*, 9 Cal.5th at pp. 679-680; *In re Taylor* (2019) 34 Cal.App.5th 543, 560 [defendant’s conduct after murder is insufficient by itself to constitute reckless indifference but may be relevant to mental state].) Here, the evidence showed that Emanuel did not check on or assist Cody in any fashion. (5ORT 367-371 [Cody fell out of his truck and rolled down the street into the gutter, where he lay face down, moaning].) It also showed that Emanuel remained with Whitley after the shooting. (10ORT 1068, 1077, 1079 [Santos saw Emanuel and Whitley together at home after the

shooting; Emanuel said they had left the scene].) The pound of marijuana that had been in Cody's truck when Cody met Emanuel and Whitley was missing when the police arrived. (6ORT 532 [Amini testified that Cody had a pound of marijuana in his truck shortly before the incident]; 9ORT 922, 927, 929, 957 [there was no marijuana in the truck after Cody was shot].) This likely meant that either Whitley or Emanuel removed the marijuana after Whitley shot Cody. Emanuel and Whitley then "got rid of everything" and jointly returned to Emanuel's home. (10ORT 1077, 1079.) Emanuel told Santos to lie to the police by saying she had lent her phone to Whitley. (10ORT 1054-1055, 1058, 1066, 1069-1070, 1079, 1089, 1093.) Emanuel altered his appearance by cutting his hair. (10ORT 1071.) All of this occurred within two hours of Whitley shooting Cody. (4ORT 284, 289, 298, 307-308; 5ORT 402 [gunshot heard between 3:00 and 3:20 p.m.]; 10ORT 1057, 1078 [when Santos arrived home between 5:00 and 5:30, Emanuel and Whitley were home].) The superior court stated that Emanuel's actions after fleeing the scene were "inherently of less value than his failure to attempt to prevent the shooting or render aid," but it found "probative [Emanuel's] actions after he reached a place of safety." (1CT 209-210.) The Court of Appeal considered Emanuel's postshooting actions "ambiguous." (Opn. 13-14.) But under *Scoggins*, the postshooting conduct was relevant to Emanuel's mental state. (*Scoggins, supra*, 9 Cal.5th at 679-680; see also *People v. Gonzalez* (2016) 246 Cal.App.4th 1358, 1385 [first codefendant acted with reckless indifference where she lured victim to the

scene, was present when victim was shot, failed to assist the victim or call police, and remained with the shooter and took him home; second codefendant acted with reckless disregard where he failed to aid the victim, fled with the shooter, and accompanied shooter while he disposed of gun].)

* * *

Viewed in the light most favorable to the superior court's order denying the section 1172.6 petition, the record reflects substantial evidence supporting the superior court's finding that Emanuel was a "major participant in the underlying robbery and that he acted with reckless indifference to human life." (Opn. 14.)¹⁰ Review of the Court of Appeal decision is not warranted.

¹⁰ Accordingly, Emanuel's additional claim that his murder conviction violates the Fourteenth Amendment's due process clause (PR 23) also fails. (See *People v. Osband* (1996) 13 Cal.4th 622, 690 [where judgment is supported by substantial evidence, the due process clauses of the state and federal constitutions are satisfied].)

CONCLUSION

The petition for review should be denied.